THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Alexander S. Macaulay, Presiding Judge Seventh Judicial Circuit

Case No. 2015-000392

Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Association, Inc.; C. Dan Carson; Jeffrey J. Dauler; Joan W. Davenport; Michael Furnari; Donna Furnari; Jessy B. Grasso; Nancy E. Grasso; Robert P. Hayes; Lucy H. Hayes; Ty Hix; Jennifer D. Hix; Paul W. Hund, III; Ruth E. Isaac; Michael D. Plourde; Mary Lou Plourde; Carol C. Pope; Steven B. Taylor; Bette J. Taylor; and Robert White, Individually and on Behalf of all others similarly situated, Respondents,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in failing to grant Marick's Motions for Summary Judgment and/or directed verdict as to Plaintiffs' cause of action for breach of warranty of workmanlike service due to Marick's not building any of the Phase I components at issue?
2. Did the lower court err by not charging the jury that the negligence and warranty of workmanlike service could only arise from the work performed by Marick?
3. Did the lower court err by charging the implied warranty of habitability?
4. Did the lower court err by upholding Plaintiffs' objection during closing?
5. Did the lower court err by failing to grant Marick's Motions for Directed Verdict with regard to Plaintiffs' causes of action for amalgamation of interest?
6. Did the lower court err in failing to grant Marick Home Builders, LLC's, and Rick Thoennes' (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Marick") Motions for Directed verdict on the issue of Marick Home Builders, LLC's and Rick Thoennes' liability in negligence, breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service and breach of fiduciary duty for lack of evidence of proximate cause with regard to Plaintiffs' damages?
7. Did the lower court err by neglecting to direct Plaintiffs' to elect its remedy to prevent Plaintiffs' double recovery and further by entering a judgment that was not supported by Jury's verdict?
8. Did the lower court err by entering judgment against Marick and did the lower court err in the application of the setoff?
9. Did the lower court err in failing to grant Marick's Motions for Summary Judgment and directed verdict based upon the failure of Plaintiffs' to submit evidence to establish the standard of care upon which a breach of fiduciary duty claim should be assessed and the business judgment rule? Further, did the lower court err by failing to charge the jury with the proper law for breach of fiduciary duty, by failing to charge the business judgment rule, and by effectively setting forth a strict liability standard upon the HOA board?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiffs filed this case in individual and representative capacities, as well as through a Property Owners Association, alleging construction defects at a townhome project in Oconee County known as Stoneledge (hereinafter “Stoneledge” or “Project”). Plaintiffs made claims against two general contractors affiliated with the Project, Marick, and its affiliated member Rick Thoennes, and Bostic Construction (hereinafter “Bostic”). Plaintiffs also sued Bostic as the developer of Phase I and IMK as the developer of Phase II. Plaintiffs alleged that the exterior roofing, stonework, cedar siding, decks, windows, doors, and foundations were defectively constructed or installed. Stoneledge consists of eighty (80) townhomes developed during two phases of construction. Only Phase I of construction is at issue in this Appeal. Bostic constructed all of the exteriors of the Phase I units alleged to be defective.

In the fall of 2013 the case was tried to verdict. On November 7, 2013, the jury returned a verdict against Marick and Thoennes for negligence, breach of warranty of workmanlike service and breach of fiduciary duty. Only one set of damages, a repair scope and estimate, was submitted by Plaintiffs against all parties on all causes of action. The jury returned a verdict for the Plaintiffs for actual damages of \$3,000,000 for negligence in construction, \$1,000,000 for breach of implied warranty of workmanlike service, and \$1,000,000 for breach of fiduciary duty. The jury apportioned the damages amongst the parties as following:

Negligence

IMK Development Co., LLC/Marick Home Builders, LLC	40%
Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc.	60%

Implied Warranty of Workmanlike Service

IMK Development Co., LLC/Marick Home Builders, LLC	70%
--	-----

Bostic Brothers Construction, Inc. 30%

Breach of Fiduciary duty (\$1,000,000.00)

IMK Development Co., LLC

Integrays Keowee Development, LLC

William C. Cox

Larry D. Lollis

Rick Thoennes

Judge Macaulay initially issued a Form 4 order entering judgement against all Defendants in varying amounts dated November 8, 2013. Marick promptly filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or to Alter/Amend Judgment pursuant to The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59(e). On January 22, 2015, Judge MaCaulay issued an Order denying Marick's Post-Trial Motions. Judge Macaulay issued a Form 4 order dated January 30, 2015 entering a "cumulative" judgment against Marick and Thoennes for \$2,144,088.44. Marick again promptly filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or to Alter/Amend Judgment pursuant to The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59(e), on the January 30, 2015 Order. Marick contemporaneously filed a Notice of Appeal on February 20, 2015.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case was originally filed May 29, 2009 by named Plaintiff Paul H. Hund, III, M.D. an owner in Phase II (hereinafter "Hund"). (See: R.p. 39-66 and R.p. 67-105) Hund's Complaint alleged, among other things, water intrusion to the exterior cladding, improper flashing, improper use of building paper, and inadequate installation of building components in Phase II of the Project.

Upon information and belief, the Stoneledge Owners Association (hereinafter "SOA") took the position that Dr. Hund's Complaint was improper as the SOA was responsible for the exterior

of the units. In November of 2009, the owners voted to retain an attorney to represent the SOA and amend the lawsuit to include the SOA and both Phase I and Phase II of the Project. Plaintiffs again alleged, among other things, water intrusion to exterior cladding, improper flashing, improper use of building paper, inadequate installation of building components, improper site work/grading, improper stone application and undisclosed latent defects.

Bostic was the general contractor for Phase I construction. Following completion of the exterior of all Phase I units and completion of a majority of the interiors of all Phase I units, Bostic terminated construction at Stoneledge. IMK purchased the development and Marick began work as general contractor in 2005 following Bostic at the Project. Evidence has been submitted that the exteriors of the Phase I buildings were already built upon Marick's arrival and Marick performed repair work at the request of unit owner's on the Phase I units. Marick also began construction of Phase II of the Project. Only one of Plaintiffs' witnesses purchased their home from IMK, the rest were purchased from Bostic or another party.

No evidence was submitted that Marick performed the construction of the exteriors Plaintiffs' sue upon. Conversely, all of the evidence at trial was that the exteriors were complete on all of the units in Phase I before Marick began work. Rick Thoenes testified:

All of the roofs were on, and the stone was on. Siding was on. All the framing was done. Stone was on. Paving was in. Landscaping was in. Garages were in.

(R.p. 1363, lines 11-18)

Rick Thonennes testified that he relied upon Bostic and the Oconee County building inspector to have done their work correctly:

I built a lot of multi-family units and had been aware of Bostic through that construction, knew that they were a large company that had a lot of integrity. So I assumed that the project was built like it was supposed to be. And I had understood that this project was not the reason they had filed for bankruptcy. So I had no reason to believe that they would have shortcut anything.

(R.p. 1365, lines 13-20)

Plaintiff's counsel showed a photo of water damage in unit 33 throughout the trial to prove that water damage existed, but Mr. Thoennes testified that Marick never worked on that unit:

Q: You've seen and heard testimony this week repeatedly about unit thirty-three. And you said that you didn't go into unit thirty-three until – or after 2005. Will you tell the jury why? Why didn't you go into unit thirty-three after 2005?

A: Why didn't I?

Q: Yes.

A: It was unsold. I think that was the units we sold to S.D.I.

Q: You never worked in that unit; is that right?

A: I don't believe so, other than to close the windows and make sure there was –that kind of thing.

Q: And that was the one ---

A: Now, Nathan could have. I don't know. But I didn't.

Q: And that is – the photograph that has been shown to this jury throughout this trial to infer that you knew all of these water leaks were happening; right?

A: That's what the inference is, yes.

Q: But you didn't work in that unit; right?

A: Right.

Q: And ultimately it was sold, and someone else got a permit and got a certificate of occupancy and sold it to one of these homeowners?

A: That's right.

Q: You don't know what they did with those leaks or any of that?

A: No.

Q: All right.

A: That was the case in several units. I mean, we sold several units in phase one to S.D.I.

(R.p. 1388, line 17-R.p. 1389, line 24)

Plaintiff and board member Ms. Funari testified that Bostic built the exterior of her unit:

Q: Ms. Furnari—Do you understand that Marick Home Builders didn't build the exterior of your townhome?

A: I understand, yes.

Q: All right. And Marick Home Builders did not sell you your townhome?

A: That's correct.

(R.p. 492, lines 18-25)

Steve Taylor, the “mayor” of Stoneledge testified that the units were complete on the exterior before Marick arrived:

Q: And after Bostic left – well, did you know anything about the quality of construction in the unfinished units or the level of construction in the unfinished units after Bostic left?

A: No, other than the fact that they were basically, basically finished, you know. There were situations where there was a window left out or doors would swing open because they didn't have locks on them. And garage doors were open and – in other words, it just was pretty much abandoned.

(R.p. 514, lines 5-14)

Q: Why do they call you mayor of Stoneledge, Mr. Smith?

A: I was that guy that was around. You know, as I mentioned, there were only three of us. One is an elderly gentleman, and so on. And I just seemed to be the guy that people sounded off to or talked to.

Q: Yeah. You walk around the neighborhood and keep an eye on it?

A: Yeah. I'm there all the time.

Q: Pick up trash?

A: Absolutely.

Q: Let contractors in and out of buildings?

A: Yeah. That's what I do. I let you into more than one building; right?

Q: Yeah. The mayor of Stoneledge.

A: That's right.

Q: There's no question. Nobody's going to deny it, Mr. Taylor. So you're around. All right. So you're around. And when Bostic left -- so, you're right. It's just your personality, isn't it? You're just kind of around. You move around a lot, don't you, Mr. Taylor?

A: Yeah, I move around.

Q: So when Bostic left, the exteriors were up, roofs were on? Stone? Right? Siding?

A: Yeah. Yeah.

(R.p. 538, lines 1-24)

Nathan Hornaday, Marick's superintendent testified that the exteriors were complete when Marick arrived on the project:

Q: If you would, describe for me the condition of phase one at Stoneledge when you arrived as a superintendent in 2005.

A: Overall condition, mainly everything was finished except for, I think, two or three units. I'm not sure. And those units had all the exterior done. They didn't have sheetrock inside of them, but I believe -- I'm not sure, but I believe everything else was finished.

Q: And when you say finished, you mean roofs were on?

A: Roofs were on.

Q: Siding?

A: Siding. There were some doors and windows – excuse me—doors missing. There were some, one, two, maybe three at the most, exterior doors missing.

(R.p. 683, lines 12-25)

Q: And the porches and decks, were they finished?

A: Yes.

Q: And the screens up on the screened porch?

A: Yes.

Q: And the grading had been completed by the time you got there?

A: Yes.

Q: And were the buildings painted?

A: They were painted.

Q: What kind of shape was that in?

A: They needed to be repainted.

Q: Did you know when those units had been constructed?

A: No.

Q: Did you know who had constructed those units?

A: Yes. Well, I heard that it was Bostic.

(R.p. 684, lines 1-15)

Although building permits submitted implied Marick built from the foundation up, Rick Thoeness and Nathan Hornaday denied that any homes in Phase I were constructed from the foundation up by Marick:

Q: This one says something different. This one says, “We’re going to complete the townhome from the foundation stage up to complete.” Right? You see that?

A: Yes.

Q: And as you would expect, the price is a little bigger. It’s eighty-four thousand five hundred sixty-three dollars and forty cents. And your fee is bigger, the four hundred dollars; right?

A: Right.

Q: So on—just taking as an example, on lot thirty-one, you have a foundation. Marick has got a foundation on its hands that y’all need to build up through completion?

A: No.

Q: Okay?

A: There wasn’t a home—there wasn’t one like that.

(R.p. 720, lines 1-16)

Q: Were all of the units built, all thirty-seven, all the way, roofs, shingles, stone?

A: Yes.

Q: When Marick arrived?

A: Yes.

(R.p. 727, lines 1-5)

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This appeal involves standards of review for summary judgment, directed verdict, Motion for New Trial, Motion for Remittur and Motion to Reconsider.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Summary Judgment is appropriate when it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corrections, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct.App.1999); Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, as will preclude summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n, 332 S.C. 54, 504 S.E.2d 117 (1998); Pye v. Lycock, 325 S.C. 426, 480 S.E.2d 455 (Ct.App.197). However, once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Rather, the non-moving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. Rule 56(e), SCRPC, SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox, 301 S.C. 493, 392 S.E.2d 789 (1190); Peterson v. West American Ins. Co., 336 S.C. 89, 518 S.E.2d 608, (Ct.App. 1999).

The plain language of Rule 56(c), SCRPC, mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party's case and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. See Baughman, 410 S.E.2d at 545-46 (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986)). A complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. The moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law because the non-moving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of their case. See Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Dept. of Labor, 337 S.C. 476, 523 S.E.2d 795 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing Baughman, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991)).

DIRECTED VERDICT

In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, a court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA, 334 S.C. 469, 476-477, 514 S.E.2d 126, 130 (1999). When only one reasonable inference can be deduced from the evidence, the question becomes one of law for the court. Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 149, 485 S.E.2d 903, 908 (1997). If the court finds that a verdict for the party opposing the motion is not reasonably possible under the facts, the court must direct a verdict in favor of the moving party. Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 149, 485 S.E.2d 903, 908 (1997). The "[c]ourt must resolve whether it would be reasonably conceivable to have a verdict for a party opposing the motion under the facts as liberally construed in the opposing party's favor." The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart, 365 S.C. 178, 188-189, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (S.C.App. 2005). "When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper." Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA, 334 S.C. 469, 476-477, 514

S.E.2d 126, 130 (1999). “This rule does not authorize submission of speculative, theoretical and hypothetical views to the jury. A corollary of this rule is that verdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture or speculation.” Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 149, 485 S.E.2d 903, 908 (1997).

MOTION TO RECONSIDER

It is proper to view a Rule 59(e) motion not only as a vehicle to request that the Court “alter or mend the judgment,” but also as a vehicle to seek “reconsideration” of issues and arguments. A motion under Rule 59(e) long has been viewed as a ‘motion for reconsideration’ despite the absence of those words from the rule. “Consequently, a party usually is allowed to ask the court to reconsider its decision even if it means rehashing all or part of an argument previously presented.” Elam v. SCDOT, 361 S.C. 9, 21-22, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779 (2004), citing Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992) (“purpose of Rule 59(e), SCRCP, to alter or amend the judgment is to request the judge to reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits”); see also Curcio v. Caterpillar, Inc., 355 S.C. 316, 318, 585 S.E.2d 272, 273 (2003) (an example of the many cases in which trial and appellate courts describe a Rule 59(e) motion as a “motion to reconsider” or “motion for reconsideration”). “There is nothing inherently unfair in allowing a party one final chance not only to call the court’s attention to a possible misapprehension of an earlier argument, but also to revisit a previously raised argument. It is inherently unfair to disallow such an opportunity.” Elam, 361 S.C. at 21-22, 602 S.E.2d at 779.

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE/NEW TRIAL NISI REMITTUR

Where there has been a trial by jury, a motion for new trial must be made promptly after the jury is discharged or, in the discretion of the court, no later than ten days thereafter. Rule 59(b), SCRCP. A trial judge has authority to grant a new trial outright when, sitting as the thirteenth

juror charged with the duty of seeing that justice is done, the judge is convinced the facts in the case necessitate a new trial. Graham v. Whitaker, 282 S.C. 393, 321 S.E.2d 40 (1984). It should be noted, however, that where an order granting or denying a new trial is based solely on errors of law, it is reviewable on appeal. Southern Ry. Co. v. Coltex, Inc., 285 S.C. 213, 329 S.E.2d 736 (1985).

A trial court may grant a new trial absolute on the grounds that the verdict is excessive or inadequate. Rush v. Blanchard, 310 S.C. 375, 426 S.E.2d 802 (1993). If the amount of the verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to be the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside the evidence, the trial judge must grant a new trial absolute; the failure of the trial judge to grant a new trial absolute in this situation amounts to an abuse of discretion and on appeal the Supreme Court will grant a new trial absolute. Weir v. Citicorp Nat'l Servs., 312 S.C. 511, 435 S.E.2d 864 (1993).

A motion for a new trial or a new trial nisi is directed to the trial judge's discretion and will be upheld unless the verdict is wholly unsupported by the evidence or so excessive or inadequate as to be a result of caprice, passion, prejudice or sympathy or the result of an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. Jenkins v. Dixie Specialty Co., 284 S. C. 425, 326 S. E. 2d 658 (1985). Where a verdict is deemed excessive in the sense that it indicates merely undue liberality on the part of the jury, the trial judge alone has the power of setting it aside absolutely or reducing it by granting a new trial nisi. Bell v. Harrington Mfg. Co., 265 S. C. 468, 219 S. E. 2d 906 (1975).

ARGUMENTS

I. Directed verdict should have been granted on the issue of Marick's liability for Breach of the Implied Warranty of Workmanlike Service.

Appellants could not be liable for the cause of action for breach of the warranty of workmanlike service as Marick did not build the components of the Phase I buildings which are at

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