THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE OCONEE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay

RECEIVED

SEP 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000392

Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owner's Association, Inc.; C. Dan Carson; Jeffrey J. Dauler; Joan W. Davenport; Michael Furnari; Donna Furnari; Jessy B. Grasso; Nancy E. Grasso; Robert P. Hayes; Lucy H. Hayes; Ty Hix; Jennifer D. Hix; Paul W. Hund, III; Ruth E. Isaac; Michael D. Plourde; Mary Lou Plourde; Carol C. Pope; Steven B. Taylor; Bette J. Taylor; and Robert White, Individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated, Respondents,

v.

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

Moreover, as noted throughout this brief, Marick had the advantage that the lender in *Roundtree* did not have in the form of the Apportionment Statute. Marick tried to get the jury to reduce the awards against it based upon what it contends was its smaller role in causing the Plaintiff harm. Thus, the arguments that Marick now makes were expressly considered and weighed by the jury, and Marick has suffered no harm by

submission of this case to the jury despite the fact that it was the second, not the first, contractor to cause harm to the Plaintiff.

**I. THE TRIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S DENIAL OF MARICK'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT ON PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF WORKMANLIKE SERVICE.**

The jury found in favor of the Plaintiff against Marick on two causes of action; negligence and breach of implied warranty of service. Marick does not take exception to the submission of those causes of action to the jury but rather argues that the jury's award against Marick is not supported by the evidence. To the contrary, the evidence is clear and overwhelming that Marick performed extensive work, as the general contractor for Phase I, and submission of that claim to the jury was entirely appropriate.

Bostic left the Stoneledge Phase I project in 2004. The evidence at trial indicated that when IMK and Marick arrived at the project, Phase I was largely in disrepair, having been vacant for the period of a year, with evidence of construction-related damage. (R. pp. 00513-00515, R. pp. 00715-00716). Marick then undertook the duty to repair the damaged condition of the Phase I units and to complete the remaining units. As noted previously, the work described in the building permits Marick pulled ranged from punch work in some units to work from the foundation up in other units. (R. pp. 02738-02759). The value of the work to be performed pursuant to the permits, as Marick estimated, was more than \$1.4 Million. (R. pp. 02738-02759). Thus, Marick indisputably performed a substantial amount of work to the unfinished units in Phase I.

Described by Marick in its initial brief in this case, Marick also undertook to make repairs to Phase I units when early owners of those units (Taylor, White and others)

complained of water infiltration and other issues. Marick's Brief pp. 37-38. This included waterproofing repairs to the porches and decks (which were later discovered to be completely rotted) and to the foundation walls (which continued to leak). (R. pp. 00697-00698; R. pp. 00744-01139). Derek Hodgins, Plaintiff's expert, testified that those repairs failed to correct the deficiencies. (R. pp. 00744-01139).

Though there was conflicting testimony between the witnesses, the Plaintiff submitted evidence that Marick was aware of construction deficiencies at the time it assumed responsibility for the project. (R. pp. 00683-00723). This is supported by the reports of leaks the owners made to Marick, and Marick's failed response to those problems, and is also supported by the conditions Hodgins observed in two units that were still incomplete when he performed his investigation in 2009. At trial, photographs of those units, taken in 2009, were presented to Mr. Hornaday who testified that he observed conditions similar to those in the photographs when he was on site. (R. pp. 00704-00709; R. pp. 02091-03192; R. pp. 02804-02884). Those photographs show extensive staining from water infiltration around windows and doors on the backside of the exterior sheathing. The photographs and Hornaday's testimony support a conclusion by the jury that Marick was on notice of defects and failed to correct them. Mr. Hodgins testified that a contractor, on notice of those problems, would have a duty to investigate further to correct deficiencies of which he is aware. (R. p. 00967, lines 8-20).

Those photographs also showed evidence that the interior fire-rated walls were not properly constructed. Though Nathan Hornaday testified that Marick had been directed by the building official to correct those walls, Mr. Hodgins testified that the photograph in question was taken in 2009, long after Marick had completed its work on

Phase I and the units had all been sold. These facts support the conclusion that Marick failed to correct a significant life safety problem in at least one unit and suggests that it may not have done so in other units.

In sum, there was abundant evidence at trial that Marick undertook to do substantial work to not only complete but repair the units in Phase I and the evidence was equally compelling that Marick's efforts failed. Thus, this case is easily distinguished from *Roundtree*, which is simply not applicable to the facts here. Submission of the warranty of service claim to the jury was appropriate, and it would have been reversible error for the trial court not to have submitted the claim to the jury.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED MARICK'S REQUEST FOR A JURY CHARGE THAT WAS UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.**

Marick argues that the trial court erred by failing to give the jury a charge on "liability for subsequent builder making repairs" and that it is entitled to a new trial as a result (R. p. 01802, line 15-p. 01805, line 9). This argument fails for several reasons. First, Marick failed to preserve the argument by making a proffer of the requested charge. Second, there is no evidence that the court's failure to include the charge prejudiced or otherwise harmed Marick, which was found liable by the jury on each and every cause of action asserted.

To preserve an argument relating to a trial court's failure to make a requested charge, it is incumbent on the party seeking the charge to proffer it and make it part of the record, so that the appellate court can see the charge that rejected. *See Greenville Mem'l Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 391 S.E.2d 546 (1990) (the appellate court will not review the failure to give a requested jury charge where the request to charge does not

appear on the record). Marick failed to do this, now only telling the court what it intended to charge. Because Marick failed to make the proposed charge part of the record, it has waived this argument.

Further, to warrant reversal, the party seeking the requested jury charge must demonstrate error and prejudice. *Fairchild v. S. Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 344, 351, 683 S.E.2d 818, 822 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd*, 398 S.C. 90, 727 S.E.2d 407 (2012). Jury instruction should be confined to the issues supported by the evidence. *Id.*

As noted above, the evidence at trial amply supported Plaintiff's claim against Marick for its work as a general contractor for Phase I. Further, Marick asked for and received the right to ask the jury to apportion that liability between it and Bostic, giving Marick the opportunity to explain its role to the jury and any failure to charge was harmless error.

**III. A CHARGE ON THE WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY WAS HARMLESS ERROR BECAUSE THE HABITABILITY CAUSE OF ACTION WAS NOT ON THE VERDICT FORM AND THE JURY DID NOT FIND MARICK LIABLE FOR A BREACH OF THE WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY.**

Marick argues the trial judge improperly charged the warranty of habitability. Again, Marick must show error and prejudice, which it cannot show because the verdict form did not include a cause of action for breach of the warranty of habitability, and the jury never awarded a verdict against Marick for breach of the warranty of habitability. (R. pp. 00024-00026). The jury found for the Plaintiff against Marick on two causes of action: negligence and breach of the implied warranty of workmanlike service. There was no verdict for breach of the implied warranty of habitability.

As Marick's counsel and Judge Macaulay noted, reference to habitability was made once and "buried" in the general charge on implied warranties. (R. p. 01960, line 7-20; R. p. 01971, line 6-p. 01972, line 1). After the jury began deliberating, the trial court received a request from the foreman to provide the charge on breach of warranty of workmanlike service and breach of fiduciary duty. (R. p. 01962, line 6-10). The trial judge informed counsel that he would bring the jury in and reread the requested charges, and Marick's counsel did not object. (R. p. 01962-01963).

In addition, Marick ostensibly argues that inclusion of the instruction was prejudicial due to closing arguments made by Bostic's counsel, however, Marick never objected to counsel's closing and has not preserved the issue. (R. p. 01988, line 2-p. 01990, line 13).

#### **IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUSTAINED COUNSEL'S OBJECTION TO MARICK'S CLOSING.**

Marick argues that the trial court improperly prevented it from making certain arguments to the jury. (R. pp. 01883-01885). As an initial matter, Marick failed to proffer its jury argument to the court, and thus has the argument is not preserved for review. *See Greenville Mem'l Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 391 S.E.2d 546 (1990) (the appellate court will not review the failure to give a requested jury charge where the request to charge does not appear on the record). Moreover, the ruling was proper, and Marick is unable to prove that if sustaining the objection was an error, it was harmful error.

**V. THE PLAINTIFF PRESENTED EVIDENCE THAT MARICK WAS A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE PLAINTIFF'S DAMAGES.**

Marick next argues that Plaintiff failed to offer evidence that its numerous failures with respect to Phase I, including its failure to comply with the code in performance of over \$1.4 million worth of completion work; its extensive, failed efforts to repair waterproofing on the porches and decks and foundation; and its disregard of open and obvious deficiencies that Hornaday admits he saw and did not repair were the proximate cause of Plaintiff's damages. Marick's proximate cause arguments fail as a matter of fact and law.

"Proximate cause does not mean the sole cause; the defendant's conduct can be a proximate cause if it was at least one of the direct, concurring causes of the injury." *Juaire v. United States*, No. 4:09-CV-709-TLW, 2012 WL 527598, at \*11 (D.S.C. Feb. 16, 2012); *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 329 S.C. 448, 464, 494 S.E.2d 835, 843 (Ct. App. 1997). A determination of proximate cause is a question of fact for the jury.

As noted previously, there was ample evidence of Marick's failure to do proper work in Phase I and its failure to address known conditions in Phase I prior to completing and selling the units. Those defects, combined with the neglect of Bostic, caused Plaintiff to suffer what the jury believed to be \$5,000,000 worth of harm. While Marick's view of the evidence was that the damages associated with its neglect was limited to \$250,000, this does not take into account, among other things, foundation repair problems, contract administration services, or the cost associated with emergency repairs. It also fails to recognize that the jury is free to assess damages proximately caused by the

conduct of the defendant, which it did in this case. In sum, the jury simply did not agree with Marick's assessment of the damages resulting from its negligence of breaches.

Finally, as with Marick's other arguments, to mitigate Marick's exposure in negligence and warranty, at Marick's request, the Court submitted to the jury the question of apportionment of damages, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §15-38-15. The statute's very purpose is to prevent a defendant who may have a small percentage of responsibility for the overall damages from being held jointly and severally liable for the entire claim. After hearing Marick's arguments both at closing and at the apportionment phase of the trial, the jury found Marick 40% responsible on the negligence cause of action. Thus, when Marick was given the opportunity to argue to the jury specifically that it was only a small part of the responsibility for the damages, the jury seemed to agree and reduced Marick's exposure.

With regard to the breach of implied warranty of service, the result is the same. In addition, Marick offered no evidence on its own behalf of the damages associated with what it contends is its discreet warranty exposure. As noted above, the damages are indivisible and, subject to application of the Apportionment Statute, Marick and Bostic are jointly responsible for those damages.

## **VI. THE PLAINTIFF SOUGHT ONE REMEDY AND WAS NOT REQUIRED TO ELECT.**

Marick next argues that Plaintiff was required to elect between remedies. This argument reflects a misunderstanding of election of remedies, which is not applicable to this case. "Election of remedies involves a choice between different forms of redress afforded by law for the same injury.... It is the act of choosing between inconsistent remedies allowed by law on the same set of facts." *Taylor v. Medenica*, 324 S.C. 200,

218, 479 S.E.2d 35, 44–45 (1996); *Keeter v. Alpine Towers Int'l, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 179, 197, 730 S.E.2d 890, 899-900 (Ct. App. 2012). When a plaintiff seeks only one remedy, there is nothing to elect. *Creach v. Sara Lee Corp.*, 331 S.C. 461, 464, 502 S.E.2d 923, 924 (Ct. App. 1998); *Keeter v. Alpine Towers Int'l, Inc.*, 399 S.C. at 197.

Here, everyone including Marick, Plaintiff, and the trial court agree that the damages Plaintiff requested at trial, essentially the cost to repair, was the remedy the Plaintiff sought. Plaintiff sought no other remedy, inconsistent or otherwise. Thus, there was nothing for Plaintiff to elect. Marick is arguing that the Plaintiff was required to elect between causes of action, all of which sought the same remedy. But there is no requirement for Plaintiff to elect between causes of action when the Plaintiff seeks only one remedy.

## **VII. THE TRIAL JUDGE DETERMINED THAT THE VERDICT WAS CUMULATIVE AND PROPERLY APPLIED THE SET-OFF.**

In this argument, Marick contends that the trial court improperly allocated the set-off and erred in holding that the jury's award at trial was cumulative, which resulted in the court's subsequent amendment of the verdict to reflect the entire judgment, \$5,000,000, as to each cause of action. Both of Marick's contentions are incorrect.

Like Bostic in Appellate Case Number 2015-000417, Marick argues that the trial court should not have allocated the set-off among all causes of action and instead should have only allocated it among certain causes of action. Marick fails to acknowledge that after amendment of the judgment, the trial court ultimately applied the entire set-off to each cause of action. In the January 30, 2015 order, the court applied the full set-off to the negligence award, the award for breach of warranty of service, and the breach of

fiduciary award (with the full set-off being applied to each of the five defendants against whom that award was obtained). (R. p. 00035-00038). There is no scenario under which Marick could have received a greater share of the set off than the 100% it received.

Marick also takes exception to the trial courts finding that the jury's award was cumulative, citing with approval *Keeter* for the proposition that the trial judge was required to inquire of the jury about its intent. This position represents a disregard of what happened at trial and a misunderstanding of *Keeter*.

As noted previously, after the jury rendered its verdict, but before allocation and while the jury was still empanelled, counsel for the HOA asked the Court if the award was cumulative. In response, with no objection or request for inquiry from counsel for any defendant, the Court ruled as follows:

Well, the way the Defendants have been treating it, yes, it is cumulative because they've been treating them all as separate little things that they want – what is it ? – apportionment on this one and apportionment on that one.

(R. p. 01979, line 8-p. 01980, line 18; R. p. 00231, line 5-p. 00234, line 8). Again, no Defendant objected to that ruling or requested that an inquiry be made of the jury, as counsel did in *Keeter*. Because Marick failed to object to the court's conclusion and failed to request an inquiry of the jury, it has waived this issue. *See Vigilant Ins. Co. of New York v. McKenney's Inc.*, 524 F. App'x 909, 914 (4th Cir. 2013) (denying Vigilant's motion for new trial because counsel did not bring the asserted inconsistency to the district court's attention before the jury was excused).

Second, contrary to Marick's contention here, *Keeter* does not require a colloquy between the judge and the jury. In *Keeter* the Court of Appeals held, "To determine the jury's intent in an ambiguous verdict, the court should consider the entire proceedings,

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